County of Santa Cruz

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

COMMISSION
AGENDA
September 11, 2025 MILPA
6:00 p.m. —7:30 p.m. 315 Main St, STE 206
Regular Meeting Watsonville, CA 95076

l. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.

Present: Bernie Gomez, Beverly Brook, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Deutron
Kebebew, Julia Feldman, Sierra Thompson, Reyna Ruiz

Excused: Elias Gonzales, Jeri Limon

Ex Officio: Judge Vinluan, Jennifer Martinez Staff: Gerardo Leon

1. CONSENT AGENDA: Commissioner Kebebew moved to approve the September 11,
2025, Meeting Agenda and the August 14, 2025, Special Meeting Minutes; to pull the
July 10, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes for corrections and approval; and to pull the
Monthly Statistical Information for further discussion and approval.

Motion: Kebebew Second: Book

Yes: Gomez, Brook, Druley, Brody, Kebebew, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

Approval of the corrected July 10, 2025, Regular Meeting Minutes:

Motion: Druley Second: Brody
Yes: Gomez, Brook, Druley, Brody, Kebebew, Feldman, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: Thompson

Motion Passed

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.



Juveni

le Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes

September 11, 2025

Page 2

Monthly Statistical Information from Probation and Juvenile Hall (Accept & File):

Motion: Druley Second: Brody

Yes: Gomez, Brook, Druley, Brody, Kebebew, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

The Juvenile Division Monthly Statistics will be added to the Minutes Packet. Please see
attached.

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: A couple members of the public introduced themselves.

ANNOUNCEMENTS (Including items via email on file): Commissioner Brook introduced
a member of the public who applied for the JIDPC Youth at Large position.

Commissioner Gomez shared that the County is working on their 2032 Strategic Plan
and that there is a community survey that can be completed. He encouraged the
commissioners to participate. Link to the County Strategic Plan:
https://www.santacruzcountyca.gov/VisionSantaCruz/StrategicPlanandEquityFramework
[StrateqicPlan2032.aspx

Commissioner Druley shared that the Board of State and Community Corrections
(BSCC) is looking for individuals interested in serving on the Executive Steering
Committee (ESC) to develop a new Request for Proposals (RFP) to provide local
assistance grants funded by Proposition 64 Cohort 4 Grant Program. See attached.

ACTION ITEMS:

1. Set timeframe and Commission membership of Jail Secure Youth Treatment Facility
(SYTF) inspection team: The Jail SYTF Inspection Team was created with further
direction.

Motion: Druley Second: Kebebew

Further Direction: Create Ad Hoc Subcommittee and set the inspection timeframe
Yes: Gomez, Brook, Druley, Brody, Kebebew, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

Commissioners Kebebew, Brooks, Ruiz, and Druley are the Jail SYTF Inspection
Team.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3312 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3312.


https://www.santacruzcountyca.gov/VisionSantaCruz/StrategicPlanandEquityFramework/StrategicPlan2032.aspx
https://www.santacruzcountyca.gov/VisionSantaCruz/StrategicPlanandEquityFramework/StrategicPlan2032.aspx

Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes
September 11, 2025

Page 3

VI

2. Meeting locations/times: The commission agreed to hold regular meetings alternating
between Watsonville and Santa Cruz. The meetings will also have a hybrid option for the
public.

Watsonville location: MILPA Offices, 315 Main St, Ste 206, Watsonville, CA 95076
Santa Cruz location: Probation Success Center, 303 Water St, 15 Floor, Santa Cruz, CA
95060

Motion: Brook Second: Druley
Yes: Gomez, Brook, Druley, Brody, Kebebew, Feldman, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: Thompson
Motion Passed

INFORMATION ITEMS:

1. Discuss recent adult transfers from Juvenile Hall:
The Commission discussed the two recent adult transfers from Juvenile Hall. Com-
missioner Druley noted that there were 5 adult transfers in California in 2024 and that
we already have two adult transfers in Santa Cruz County this year; the Commission
noted concern within the state of this trend.
The commission also discussed the lack of Least Restrictive Programming and facili-
ties in the community.
Commissioner Brook shared that San Mateo County had a Resolution about not
sending youth to adult court and stated that she would share the Resolution.

Please see Secretary Ruiz’s notes for details.

2. Report out and discuss Juvenile Hall inspection and upcoming report:
Commissioner Druley reported out on the Juvenile Hall Inspection, thanked the com-
missioners and Juvenile Hall staff, and noted that the report will be completed and
sent to Juvenile Hall for review and clarifications on September 19, 2025. The Report
will be ready for Commission approval at the October 9 meeting.

Please see Secretary Ruiz’s notes for details.

3. JJDPC'’s participation in the Hiring of the new Chief of Probation:
Commissioners Kebebew and Brody were selected to be part of the Oral Boards in
the selection process of the Probation Chief position — the Oral Board will be held on
October 17, 2025. The Commission believes that the Chair of the JUJDPC should
have been on the Oral Board and will ask for clarification from County Human Re-
sources in how the Commissioners were selected.
The Commission is glad to have a voice in this process and will provide input to
Commissioners Kebebew and Brody at the October 9 meeting.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3312 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3312.



Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes
September 11, 2025
Page 4

Please see Vice Chair Feldman’s follow-up with County Human Resources.
Please see Secretary Ruiz’s notes for details.

4. New Commissioner appointments - Hold ups at Board of Supervisors:
The Commission discussed the delays some of the JUDPC applicants have faced
and what may be the reasons. They had questions regarding who the applicants can
contact to inquire on the status of their application, and which Supervisor recom-
mends At Large/Youth at Large positions. Staff provided clarification on the process
and will follow up with Clerk of the Board on who applicants can contact and the
process for At Large positions Supervisor recommendations.
Please see Secretary Ruiz’s notes for details.

5. Grand Jury Sex Trafficking Report:
The Commission briefly discussed the report and discussed if this is within the
JJDPC’s purview. This item will be on the October 9 meeting agenda to further
discuss.

VII. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 7:30 p.m.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3312 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3312.



County of Santa Cruz

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

COMMISSION
AGENDA
September 11, 2025 MILPA
6:00 p.m. —7:30 p.m. 315 Main St, STE 206
Regular Meeting Watsonville, CA 95076

For questions regarding the meeting process, please contact Gerardo Leon, staff for the JIDPC,
at 831-454-3312 or PRB1150@santacruzcountyca.gov

l. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:

Il. CONSENT AGENDA:
Approval of the September 11, 2025, Agenda
Approval of the August 14, 2025, Special Meeting Minutes
Approval of the July 10, 2025, Regular Meeting Minutes
Monthly Statistical Information from Probation and Juvenile Hall (Accept & File).

1. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: Any member of the public will be allowed a maximum of 3 minutes
each to address the Commission on any item listed on today’s Agenda and/or any other topic within the
scope of the responsibility of the Commission. If the issue or matter is not listed on today’s agenda,
Commissioners will not take actions or respond immediately to any public comment, but may follow up later,
either individually or at a subsequent meeting.

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS (Including items via email on file)

V. ACTION ITEMS:
1. Set timeframe and Commission membership of Jail Secure Youth Treatment
Facility (SYTF) inspection team.
2. Meeting locations/times.

\ INFORMATION ITEMS:

Discuss recent adult transfers from Juvenile Hall:

Report out and discuss Juvenile Hall inspection and upcoming report:
JJDPC’s participation in the Hiring of the new Chief of Probation:
New Commissioner appointments - Hold ups at Board of Supervisors:
Grand Jury Sex Trafficking Report:

oW

VIl.  ADJOURNMENT:

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.


mailto:PRB1150@santacruzcountyca.gov

County of Santa Cruz

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

COMMISSION
MINUTES
August 14, 2025 Probation Success Center
6:00 p.m. - 7:30 p.m. 303 Water St., 15t Floor
Special Meeting Santa Cruz, CA and

Hybrid (see link below)

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Meeting called to order at 6:20 p.m.
Commissioner Druley was present virtually via AB 2449'’s “Just Cause” exception; she
noted no one over the age of 18 was in the room with her.

Present: Beverly Brook, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Elias Gonzales, Jeri Limon, Julia
Feldman, Sierra Thompson, Reyna Ruiz

Excused: Bernie Gomez, Deutron Kebebew

Ex Officio: Judge Vinluan (excused), Jennifer Martinez  Staff: Gerardo Leon

CONSENT AGENDA: Approval of this Agenda and Monthly Statistical Information from
Probation and Juvenile Hall (Accept & File).

Motion: Brody Second: Feldman

Yes: Brook, Druley, Brody, Gonzales, Limon, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: None

ANNOUNCEMENTS (Including items via email on file):

Commissioner Druley attended a state-wide meeting of JUDPC/JJC Commissioners and
shared there is a Commissioner Google Group where Commissioners from across the
state can communicate with other commissions/groups. Commissioner Druley will share

the information. See attached.

Chair Gonzales shared that Commissioner Rodriguez resigned from the JIDPC effective
August 13, 2025.

Commissioner Brook will share a flyer for the Rainbow Conference. See attached.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.



Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes
August 14, 2025

Page 2

V.

VI

ACTION ITEMS:
1. Review and Approve Juvenile Hall Inspection Progress and Assignments:

Motion: Feldman Second: Brook

Yes: Brook, Druley, Brody, Gonzales, Limon, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

The Commissioners finalized the Juvenile Hall Inspection assignments and schedule.
Please See attached.

2. Discuss and Approve SYTF Inspection of the Main Jail:

Motion: Feldman Second: Brook

Yes: Brook, Druley, Brody, Gonzales, Limon, Feldman, Thompson, Ruiz
No: None

Abstain: None

Motion Passed

ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 7:26 p.m.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,

including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may

request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.



County of Santa Cruz

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

COMMISSION
MINUTES
Thursday, July 10, 2025 Aptos Safety Center
6:00 p.m. - 7:30 p.m. 171 Aptos Village Way
Regular Meeting Aptos, CA

The purpose of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Commission is to advocate for and
protect the safety and well-being of dependency and juvenile justice-involved youth and to prevent youth
from becoming involved in the juvenile justice system. As a Commission, we will educate and inform our
community and system leaders on the importance of positive youth development and advocate for coordi-
nated and well-resourced systems that promote family and youth success and prevent system involvement.

In furtherance of that purpose the Commission has adopted three goal areas to guide its work over the
next 2 years (2024 — 2026): 1) Juvenile Hall Inspection, 2) Positive Youth Development through the 41
Developmental Assets,; and 3) Convening Stakeholders.

l. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Meeting called to order at 6:04 p.m.

Present: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Deutron Kebebew, Elias
Gonzales, Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

Excused: Beverly Brook, Maria Rodriguez-Castillo, Sierra Thompson

Ex Officio: Judge Jerry Vinluan, Jennifer Martinez Staff: None

Il. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: None

M. CONSENT AGENDA: Commissioner Druley moved to approve the Consent Agenda
[Approval of Agenda, Approval of Minutes from June 12, 2025 and June 20, 2025),
Approval of Monthly Statistical Information from Probation & Juvenile Hall (Attachments
Accept & File)]; Commissioner Kebebew seconded.

Motion Passed

Yes: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Deutron Kebebew, Elias Gonzales,
Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.



Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes
July 10, 2025
Page 2

V.

ANNOUNCEMENTS: Fernando Giraldo retired from Chief Probation Officer and Valerie
Thompson has been appointed as Interim Chief Probation Officer. Commissioner Kebe-
bew shared that Community Action Board has launched an action to get everyone to in-
dividually commit to assisting a family to complete a Childcare Safety Plan by Septem-
ber 2025. Commissioner Gomez, Survey?? Commissioner Ruiz informed the group that
she and Commissioner Brook will be doing a site visit of Sonoma SYTF on July 24,
2025.

ACTION ITEMS:
1. Finalize Teams for Juvenile Hall Inspection: Commissioner Kebebew moved to
approve and Commissioner Ruiz seconded.

Motion Passed

Yes: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Deutron Kebebew, Elias Gonzales,
Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

2. Finalize Members for Policy and Legislative (Sub Committee or Ad Hoc):
Commissioner Feldman moved to approve and Commissioner Brody seconded.

Motion Passed

Yes: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody, Deutron Kebebew, Elias Gonzales,
Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

3. Approval for Support Letter regarding AB1376 to be submitted by Chair:
Commissioner Gonzales moved to approve and Commissioner Feldman seconded.

Motion Passed

Yes: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody Deutron Kebebew, Elias Gonzales,
Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

4. Finalize Members for Quarterly Newsletter from Commission to Board of Supervisors:
Commissioner Feldman moved to approve and Commissioner Kebebew seconded.

Motion Passed

Yes: Bernard Gomez, Cynthia Druley, David Brody Deutron Kebebew, Elias Gonzales,
Jeri Limon, Julia Feldman, Reyna Ruiz

No: None

Abstain: None

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need
language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:
call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.



Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Commission Minutes
July 10, 2025
Page 3

2 INFORMATION ITEMS: None

VIl.  SUB-COMMITTEES:

1. Inspections: Juvenile Hall inspection is scheduled for August 27-28, 2025 with
Commissioners on the Sub-Committee teams expected to be on-site across both
days and varying shifts. A virtual training on the JDAI Inspection Tool, led by
Douglas Keillor will take place August 14, 2020 from 10:00-11:00AM via Zoom.
Inspection team members are expected to review the JDAI Assessment Tool,
training modules, and program requirements in advance.

2. Data: A newly established Data Committee has been formed, including
Commissioners Kebebew, Gomez and Thompson (pending confirmation).
Commissioner Gonzales is considering joining future meetings.

VIll.  ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 7:30 p.m.

The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate on the basis of disability, as no person shall, by reason of a
disability, be denied the benefits of its services, programs, or activities. If you are a person with a disability,
including a communication disability, and require special assistance in order to participate in the meeting or need

language service assistance, please contact the Santa Cruz County Probation Department at (831) 454-3853 (TDD:

call 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting in order to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may
request a copy of the agenda in an alternate format.

Por favor haga arreglos anticipadamente por teléfono al numero (831) 454-3800.

10



There were no firearm related bookings in August.

Youth on Probation by area of residence:

Count

4

4

42

88

Area

Aptos Total

Ben Lomond Total
Campbell Total
Capitola Total
Castroville Total
Exeter Total

Felton Total
Fresno Total
Hayward Total
Roseville Total
Salinas Total

San Jose Total
Santa Cruz Total
Scotts Valley Total
Spanawau, WA Total
Spring Valley Total
Stockton Total
Watsonville Total

Grand Total

11



Serious Injury

# Altercations

m ADP

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall

Physical Altercations: Overview

0.6

2

1.1

10.9

7

1.5

- gz-8ny
T4l

- qg-unf
- gz-AeN
- gz-idy
- GC1eN
- §¢-9°d
- gg-uer

- §¢-9ad
- ¥¢-\ON
- 710
~ yz-das
- yz-3ny
4l

- pe-unfg
~ y-AeN
-~ pz-ady
- VC-1eN
- ¥Z-9°4
- vg-uer

- €¢-9°Q
- €C-\ON
- €¢-190
- ¢g-das
- €z-3ny
- €¢Inr

- gqunf

- ¢z-AeN
~ €z-idy
- €C1EeN
- €¢-9°4

14 -

12

10 -

ec-uer

January 2023 - August 2025

12



® Time of Altercation

® Time of 2nd Altercation

A Time of 3rd Altercation

PN

6:58-PA

EASAS

274

8:3

3:50 PM

Q-9 PN\

U.J v

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall
Physical Altercations: Time of Day

10:20 AM
®

Fl

AT
0.493

1:15 PM

U”‘d’?‘%AM

January 2023 - August 2025




0.6

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall

Overview

Use of Force

7o) i
- o
N "
o N
-
A -
A
o L i
B -
®
/ |
I T T T T T T
< (V] o o0 (o] < N o
- d

Injuries to Minors ' # Control Holds M Injuries to Staff = ADP

January 2023 - August 2025

14




Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall
Physical Altercations: Location

4
2
1
a) ~
0 0
yV __4 yV _4
o o o o o
&’ & & & &
A & < &
P o o
\5&' \5& \5&
A% Na D

January 2023 - August 2025




O L N W & U1 OO N 00

Physical Altercations: Day of the Week

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall

January 2023 - August 2025

16



== ADP

e=p==1f Youth Incidents

—0-—Total # R/C Days for
Month

==f==Avg # R/C Days per
Youth/Incident

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall
Room Confinement: Overview

January 2023 - August 2025




Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall Room Confinement by
Minute
January 2023 - August 2025

m(0-29 Minutes m 30-59 Minutes 60-89 Minutes ®90-119 Minutes = 120-149 Minutes
150-179 Minutes m 180-209 Minutes m 210-240 Minutes m 241+ Minutes
5
4
3 3 |3 3
2 R 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
1 1 1 11 11 1 1 1 1 1 m 11 1 1" 1
D 0

Jan- Feb- Mar- Apr- May- Jun- Jul- Aug- Sep- Oct- Nov- Dec- Jan- Feb- Mar- Apr- May- Jun- Jul- Aug- Sep- Oct- Nov- Dec- Jan- Feb- Mar- Apr- May- Jun- Jul- Aug-
23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 2518



1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall Room Confinement Over 4
Hours
January 2024 - August 2025

m4 - 5 Hours m6 -7 Hours 8 - 9 Hours ®10 - 11 Hours

Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 Jul-24 Aug-24 Sep-24 Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25 Apr-25 May-25 Jun-25 Jul-25 Aug-25

19



3.5

2.5

N

1.5

=N

0.

(¢)]

o

Jan-
24

1

Feb-
24

Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall Separate Program by Days
January 2024 - August 2025

m 1 Day

m 2 Days

= 3 Days

2 2
11 1| ‘ 1

Mar- Apr- May- Jun- Jul-24 Aug- Sep-

24

24

24

24

24

24

Oct-
24

111 1

Nov-
24

Dec-
24

® 4 Days

Jan-
25

m 5+ Days

2
1 1 l

1

3
1

Feb- Mar- Apr- May- Jun- Jul-25 Aug-

25

25

25

25

25

25

20



Santa Cruz County Juvenile Hall
Grievances: Overview

0

e=fil==Series2
e=g== Series
=0 Series3
—d— Series4
=== Series5

January 2023 - August 2025




701 Ocean Street, Room 318-1

SANTA CRUZ COU NTY Santa Cruz, CA 95060

Civil Grand Jury (831) 454-2099
grandjury@scgrandjury.org

Human Trafficking in Santa Cruz County

Voices Unheard, Signs Unseen

Summary

Human trafficking is defined by the U.S. Department of Justice as a crime involving the
exploitation of a person for labor, services, or commercial sex. The Grand Jury
concluded that human trafficking goes largely unrecognized and unreported in Santa
Cruz County. This report will show that there is a lack of training and prevention
activities provided to youth, school administrators, teachers, and law enforcement. State
and local mandates meant to curtail trafficking are often not enforced. Additionally, there
is insufficient coordination among stakeholders to address the issue of human
trafficking.

The Grand Jury recommends actions that will increase collaboration among responsible
agencies to better recognize and respond to human trafficking, coordinate handling of
cases to support prosecutions, and secure additional funding while providing more
effective support for prevention and increasing public awareness of the problem.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 1 of 28

22



Table of Contents

Summary 1
Background 3
Scope and Methodology 4
Investigation 4
What is Human Trafficking? 4
The Scope and Nature of the Problem 5
Vulnerable Populations in Santa Cruz County 5
Indicators of Trafficking Activity 8
What Resources are Available to Human Trafficking Victims? 8
State Laws Regarding Prevention and Support Services to Minors 9
SB 855 - Human Services Omnibus Trailer Bill for the 2014-15 Budget 9

AB 1227 - Human Trafficking Prevention Education and Training Act (2017) 10

State Laws and Local Ordinances Regarding Human Trafficking 10
Pending Legislation 10
Existing State Legislation 11

Local Ordinances 1

Why Are So Few Human Trafficking Cases Prosecuted? 12
Santa Cruz County - A Feeder for San Francisco Bay Area Trafficking 13

There is Room for Improvement 13
Conclusion 18
Findings 19
Recommendations 20
Required Responses 21
Invited Responses 22
Definitions 22
Sources 23
References 23
Websites 28
Site Visits 28
Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 2 of 28

23



Background

Human trafficking is poorly understood, difficult to define, and therefore, acquiring solid
data is scattered and fractured. Though the common perception is that human
trafficking happens primarily in other countries, it is indeed a significant problem in the
United States. California consistently reports a high volume of human trafficking calls in
the US, according to data from the National Human Trafficking Hotline (National
Hotline). California also ranks #8 per capita at 28.88 victims per 100,000 residents.!"!

In 2023, California had approximately 1,128 reported cases involving 2,045 victims.
Roughly 62% of these cases involved sex trafficking.””! It is estimated by the National
Institute of Justice (NIJ) that 85% of human trafficking cases go unreported. However,
the NIJ also states that this 85% rate of underreporting is a minimum.”!'¥! This translates
into potentially 5,000-10,000 cases per year in California. Young girls between the ages
of 12-14 years old and boys between the ages of 11 and 13 years of age are especially
vulnerable.! !

e One local service provider states that it gets 5-7 calls on average per week from
victims and estimates that in any given week, there are 200 sex trafficking
victims in Santa Cruz County.

e A different local service provider representative states that in the past three
years, it has served approximately 20 human trafficking victims who were minors
between the ages of 12 to 18. This is a significant number of cases considering
that the agency serves victims of multiple types of crimes.

e Public presentations made by a third local service provider generate 8-10 human
trafficking cases annually.

e The County Office of Education (COE) administration is aware of two reported
cases of sex trafficking among their 800 at-risk students in the 2024-2025 school
year and is aware of at least four other suspected cases within the past three to
four years.!"! ¥ However, other COE staff working with at-risk students reported
being unaware of any cases of student human trafficking.

The California Department of Justice determined that human trafficking, both sex and
labor trafficking, is the fastest-growing criminal enterprise globally and is increasing in
California. This is because human trafficking is a very lucrative business. Unlike drug
sales, the commaodity (sex or forced labor) can be sold over and over.”!

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 3 of 28

24



Scope and Methodology

In its investigation of human trafficking in the County, the Grand Jury (the Jury) set out
to determine the following:

e The prevalence of human trafficking in the County of Santa Cruz.

e The level of education and outreach to youth and other vulnerable populations for
the prevention of human trafficking.

e Law enforcement challenges in the prosecution of traffickers.

e Resources available to provide services to victims of human trafficking.

The Jury’s investigation consisted of 19 interviews with County and various City law
enforcement officers, non-profit agencies focusing on serving human trafficking victims,
actual human trafficking survivors, school administrators, County administrators,
administrators from a neighboring county, farmworker advocates, and homeless
outreach workers.

In addition, the Jury researched State and local laws and ordinances related to the
prevention and monitoring of human trafficking and the funding for these activities. The
Jury also surveyed a random selection of businesses in each of the County’s five
supervisorial districts for compliance with signage requirements. Finally, Jurors did
extensive research on websites related to human trafficking, attended local public
events intended to raise public awareness, and obtained supporting documentation
from interviewees as well as filed Public Records Act requests.

Investigation

What is Human Trafficking?
The simplified US legal definition of human trafficking is:

The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for
labor or services, through the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of
involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. Or, for commercial sex
acts in which the person induced to perform such acts is under 18 years of age
or is forced, defrauded, or coerced."” The coercion can be subtle or overt,
physical or psychological. Exploitation of a minor for commercial sex is human

trafficking, regardless of whether any form of force, fraud, or coercion was used.
(1]

In Santa Cruz County, recruitment, harboring, and coercion are consistently reported in
human trafficking cases.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 4 of 28

25



The Scope and Nature of the Problem

Human trafficking victims are often recruited via manipulation or coercion. They may be
promised shelter, drugs, money, or romantic attention. Once lured in, they are
commonly subjected to sexual exploitation, forced labor, coerced recruitment of others,
violence, and trauma.

Local survivors and frontline workers interviewed report that victims often do not
recognize themselves as being trafficked. The result is a population that remains largely
hidden and underserved.

Human trafficking is a growing criminal enterprise nationwide and one of the most
underreported crimes in California. Santa Cruz County is not immune. "2/

The Super Bowl and World Cup events scheduled for 2026 in Santa Clara County will
impact the County of Santa Cruz directly with an influx of tourism and money, both of
which increase the likelihood of human trafficking activity.!"*["*! Closer to home, the
future development of a large year-round event center in the City of Santa Cruz
Downtown Expansion Plan will potentially bring a heightened need for public awareness
regarding human trafficking in our area.l"®! 7118l

Vulnerable Populations in Santa Cruz County

According to the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, women and girls make up
71% of all detected trafficking victims worldwide. About 51% of all trafficked victims are
adult women, and 20% are girls under the age of 18, typically between the ages of 12
and 14. Men make up 29% of victims, 21% of whom are adult men, and 8% are boys,
typically between the ages of 11 and 13.["°!

The illustration below shows some of the factors that leave victims vulnerable to
traffickers’ seductive tactics.

Percentage of cases by pre-existing factors that traffickers have taken advantage of,
as reported in the GLOTIP court cases*

Child with a
Economic need i f{\ dysfunctional family
51% m 20%
Intimate partner as Mental, behavioural or
ﬁ neurclogical disorder
10%

trafficker
Child deprived of

13%
- parental care
9%
b §
Limited education or know-

ledge of foreign language % & Physical disability
6% 3%

Figure 1: Pre-existing Factors Traffickers Take Advantage of?!

Imrigration status
10%

Source: Global Report on Trafficking in Persons, 2020

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 5 of 28

26



In interviews with various service providers, law enforcement officers, and County
administrators, several categories of vulnerable people who are disproportionately
targeted by traffickers emerged.

e Youth in Foster Care: These minors are particularly vulnerable because most
have come from dysfunctional homes. Many have suffered familial neglect and/or
abuse. Traffickers target these youths, initially offering them the attention and
nurturing they crave. They may be offered expensive gifts, drugs, or money.
These youths may have been friended and groomed on social media - a medium
traffickers are skilled at using to build trust with their contacts. Youths may be led
to believe they are in a romantic relationship with their captors, making victims
more likely to be compliant.

e School-aged Children: Young children are among the most vulnerable due to
their age and dependency on adults for their care. Sexual exploitation of these
young children is most commonly perpetrated by a family member or a close,
trusted friend of the family. Being victimized by adults who are responsible for
their care leaves them with fewer options to speak out. They also lack the
resources, know-how, or courage to reach out for help and may have
experienced sexual exploitation for so long that it has become normalized.

e Homeless and Runaway Youth: These youths lack shelter, food, and money.
Traffickers can immediately fulfill these unmet needs. In exchange, youths are
asked to repay their traffickers by submitting to acts of sexual exploitation and/or
engaging in criminal activities on behalf of their traffickers. Homeless and
runaway youths will often choose to stay in abusive trafficking situations because
the dangers are known, and they believe they are better off than they were in the
situation from which they came.

e Young Adults Aged 18-25 Experiencing Poverty, Addiction, or Homelessness: As
with minors, traffickers are able to offer these adults housing, food, and relative

safety from the dangers of living on the streets. Addicts are lured by the prospect
of access to the source of drugs they need to feed their addiction or forestall
withdrawals.

e Undocumented Agricultural Workers: Undocumented workers, including
unaccompanied minors, often come into the US with only the items they carry
with them, leaving them vulnerable to offers of assistance meant to lure them into
servitude. They likely do not speak English well, and many will have a limited
education. Complaining about their abuse can result in being blacklisted by
employers. Reporting abuse can also bring them to the attention of law
enforcement, with the subsequent risk of being deported, especially in the current
political environment.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 6 of 28



Another factor not shown above is the use of social media. All youth who are on social
media are vulnerable to traffickers. Known as “sexploitation”, youth are increasingly
coerced into posting nude photos of themselves on social media only to be later
exploited and coerced by traffickers. Social media has created a platform for clever
traffickers to lure and recruit youth of all socio-economic backgrounds. This practice
continues to increase, and the nature of social media makes it difficult to detect and
prevent.

The three composite examples below demonstrate how vulnerable youth can be
exploited. All three have elements of recruitment, harboring, and coercion. Details have
been provided by local service providers and are taken from actual local trafficking
cases.

Sarah is a 15-year-old high school freshman who recently started dating John, a
17-year-old junior. Sarah believes she is in love with John and that their relationship is
reciprocal. After two months of dating, John takes Sarah to a get-together with friends.
He then asks her to have sex with his friend Mike. Sarah says, “But | don’t want to have
sex with your friend. | love you.” John responds by saying, “If you loved me, you would
do this for me.” Reluctantly, Sarah agrees to have sex with Mike. John has made an
arrangement with Mike to pay John to have sex with Sarah. Sarah has unwittingly
become a human trafficking victim. After hooking Sarah in, John goes on to traffic her to
other boys and men at parties in exchange for money, drugs, or alcohol. He has nude
pictures of Sarah that he posts online to solicit customers.

Kathy is an 18-year-old who is invited to a party hosted by John, a trafficker. At the
party, Kathy and her friends are provided alcohol and drugs. John offers Kathy what
sounds like a great opportunity to make good money. He claims to be a professional
photographer and offers her work as a model. He tells her a time and day to meet. After
this meeting, Kathy decides to run away from home and drop out of school. John takes
her on a shopping spree for the designer clothes she “needs” for modeling work. In
exchange, she hands over her phone and identification. Kathy is now isolated, making it
difficult for her to seek help. She is told that she now “owes” him for his gifts, and she
must work off the debt. Soon, he is taking her from city to city, where she is forced into
sex trafficking.

Mary was six years old when her uncle Bill first took her for an outing that resulted in
him sodomizing her. He warned her not to tell her parents, and that he would hurt her
little brother if she did. Uncle Bill began to take her to parties at his friend’s house that
always resulted in coerced sex acts she did not like, sometimes causing injury, and
always involved other men who paid her uncle Bill with money, drugs, or alcohol.
Sometimes, Uncle Bill would make videos of what she was forced to do with these men.
She was afraid of her uncle’s continued threats and did not want to upset her parents.
Over time, she began to regard his sexual demands as normal. Even though Mary did
not like what her uncle demanded she do, she focused on the reward of good food and

nice clothes she would not have otherwise.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 7 of 28

28



Indicators of Trafficking Activity

Signs of human trafficking are often masked by the presenting issues that bring victims
to the attention of law enforcement or service providers. This means that most cases of
human trafficking are unidentified, as many law enforcement officers are not properly
trained to recognize cases of trafficking.

While not an exhaustive list, these are some key red flags indicating a potential
trafficking situation:#" 122!

Living conditions:

e Living with an employer
e Poor living conditions
e Multiple people in a cramped space

Physical appearance:

e Signs of physical abuse
e Malnourishment or extreme hunger
e Suspicious tattoos or skin branding that is unexplained

Working/school conditions:

Employer is holding identity documents,
Unpaid or paid very little

Under 18 and in prostitution

Truancy

Suspicious Behavior:

e Inability to speak to the individual alone
e Answers appear to be scripted and rehearsed
e Submissive or fearful behavior

What Resources are Available to Human Trafficking Victims?

Below is a description of local providers of direct services to victims and their prevention
activities. There are currently five such nonprofit service providers in the county. Links
are provided for researching additional details on services provided by these
organizations.

Arukah Project: Arukah provides direct services to human trafficking victims who contact
Arukah through their 24/7 hotline. Arukah supports survivors of sex trafficking and also
provides survivor-led trainings to schools.

Rising Worldwide: Rising is a Santa Cruz-based nonprofit dedicated to empowering
survivors of human trafficking, gender-based violence, and extreme poverty. Rising
provides free survivor-led training, mentorship, access to resources, and emergency
financial support.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 8 of 28


https://www.arukahproject.org/about-us
https://risingworldwide.org/

Monarch Services: Monarch is a County nonprofit that provides emergency shelter to
survivors of domestic violence, sexual assault, and sexual trafficking. Other services
include a 24-hour bilingual crisis line, legal advocacy, counseling, and support groups.
Monarch also provides training. However, their trainers do not necessarily have any
actual lived experience in human trafficking.

The Coalition to End Human Trafficking in Santa Cruz and Monterey County: The
Coalition has grown a collaboration of organizations, businesses, and individuals
working to end human trafficking in Santa Cruz and Monterey counties through
education, advocacy, policy change, services for survivors, and prosecution of
offenders.

Catholic Charities of Monterey Bay: Located in Watsonville, the agency serves migrant
farm workers. Staff are trained to detect signs of trafficking among migrants and refer
cases to appropriate local and state agencies for assistance, as well as providing
trauma-focused bilingual care and counseling.

State Laws Regarding Prevention and Support Services to Minors

There are two State laws mandating enhanced prevention and support services for
minor victims of human trafficking. Both of these laws provide for the allocation of
funding to County child welfare agencies. This section gives an overview of these laws
and their requirements.

Compliance with these laws will be discussed in a later section of this report.

SB 855 - Human Services Omnibus Trailer Bill for the 2014-15 Budget

SB 855 created the Commercially Sexually Exploited Children (CSEC) Program and
requires the State of California to collect data from counties related to human trafficking
cases and services provided. The law mandates a collaborative approach involving
child welfare, probation, mental health, public health, and other relevant agencies.”**

The County of Santa Cruz participates in the CSEC Program and receives funding from
the California Department of Human Services. These funds are provided to support the

identification, protection, and specialized care of children and youth who are victims of,

or at risk of, sexual exploitation. Counties are required to report back to the State on the
allocation of CSEC funds as part of their County Biennial Call Report.

As the recipient of CSEC funds, Santa Cruz County’s Family & Child Services
(previously known as Child Protective Services) is required to form a multidisciplinary
team and hold regular meetings for case reviews of identified minor victims and at-risk
youth. This team is required to have representatives from child welfare, probation,
mental health, public health, juvenile courts, the Sheriff’'s Office, and the County Office
of Education.*!

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 9 of 28


https://www.monarchscc.org/about-us/
https://coalitiontoendhumantrafficking.org/
https://catholiccharitiesdom.org/

In the past five fiscal years, the County Human Services Department has received
annual CSEC allocations ranging from $136,000 to $142,000, plus an additional $6,555
in Federal funding for fiscal year 2024-25. Funds are distributed to local service
providers as shown in Figure 2.

Total
contract/purchase Fiscal
order amount Year

Grand
Vendor 2021-22  2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 Total % Total
Monarch $65,000 $65,000 $65,000 $61,750 $256,750 43.84%
Rising Worldwide $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $23,750 $98,750 16.86%
Diversity Center $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $23,750 $98,750 16.86%
The Coalition $17,000 $17,000 $17,000 $16,150 $67,150 11.46%
West Coast Children's
Clinic $300 $14,000 $18,000 $12,000 $44,300 7.56%
Encompass - Youth
Advisory Board $10,000 $10,000 $0 $20,000 3.41%
Grand Total $142,300 $156,000 $150,000 $137,400 $585,700 100.00%
CSEC Allocation $139,370 $140,739 $135,860 $141,938 $557,907 95.25%
Balance not spent/excess
expenditures -$2,930 -$15,261 -$14,140 $4,538 -$27,793 -4.75%

Figure 2: CSEC Fund Disbursement Detail by Fiscal Year
Source: Department of Human Services, Santa Cruz County %°

AB 1227 - Human Trafficking Prevention Education and Training Act (2017)

AB 1227 is an update to SB 855 and requires California public schools to include
education on human trafficking prevention in sexual health education classes for middle
and high school students. It mandates that instruction be age-appropriate, medically
accurate, and include information on how to recognize and avoid exploitation. The bill
also requires school staff to receive training on how to identify and respond to signs of
human trafficking.®!

State Laws and Local Ordinances Regarding Human Trafficking

Pending Legislation

AB 379 Survivor Support and Demand Reduction Act: This bill passed the California
Assembly with a unanimous vote of 74-0 on May 15, 2025, and at the time of
publication of this report is under consideration in the State Senate.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 10 of 28



If passed into law, a key provision of this new bill would create a grant program through
the California Office of Emergency Services to support district attorneys. This funding
could be used to create specialized units for the vertical prosecution of trafficking cases.
Vertical prosecution refers to the process of the initial investigation of a case through
final disposition, including trial and sentencing. Such a process would streamline
prosecutions.

AB 379 will also create a Survivor Support Fund, opening grant opportunities to
community-based organizations that provide direct services and outreach to victims of
sex trafficking and exploitation.*”

Existing State Legislation

There are three existing critical California laws addressing the issue of sex and labor
trafficking. The laws focus on public notice requirements and civil lawsuits against
traffickers and those benefiting financially from trafficking. In brief:

SB 1193 - Human Trafficking: Public Notice Requirements: Requires certain businesses
(such as bars, massage businesses, and transit stations) to post a notice with
information on how victims of human trafficking can seek help, including the National
Human Trafficking Hotline. SB 1193 also requires farm labor contractors to post human
trafficking signage, according to the State Department of Industrial Relations. SB 1193
was expanded by AB 260, which requires hotels, motels, and bed and breakfasts to
post the same human trafficking public notice. It also requires that staff be trained to
recognize and report human trafficking.?® 1!

SB 225 - Human Trafficking: Civil Actions: Allows victims of human trafficking to bring
civil lawsuits against perpetrators and other responsible parties (such as businesses
that benefited from the trafficking), even after criminal proceedings have ended.?"

The Jury learned somewhat late in the investigation that AB 2130 requires all new
emergency medical responders licensed on or after July 1, 2024, to also receive training
to recognize and respond to victims of human trafficking. "2, Well-trained medical
responders are better positioned to identify human trafficking victims than are law
enforcement officers because of their perceived neutrality and the fact that they deliver
medical care, not citations. B B413% The Jury was unable to verify compliance of local
fire and emergency medical responders in the county, but acknowledges the importance
of them being properly trained to recognize victims of human trafficking to potentially
collaborate with local service providers.

Local Ordinances

In addition to California laws, there are also local ordinances in effect at the County
level and in each city within the county. These regulations focus on massage
businesses and vary between cities and the County.

The codes for the Cities of Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, and Watsonville are nearly
identical. They each require massage businesses to be registered with the Chief of
Police and require practitioners to be certified by the California Massage Therapy

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 11 of 28



Council (CAMTC)."® The Chief of Police is responsible for enforcement and inspections
in these jurisdictions. The County of Santa Cruz also requires certification with CAMTC,
but in addition, restricts proximity to schools and playgrounds. The City of Capitola does
not have any specific ordinances regarding massage businesses. " 13813911401 [41]

Why Are So Few Human Trafficking Cases Prosecuted?

In interviews with representatives of the Sheriff’'s Office, municipal police departments,
and the District Attorney’s Office, the Jury was told that there are very few cases of
human trafficking identified and fewer still that are prosecuted. There are several
reasons for the low number of reported cases.

e Perpetrators force victims to commit crimes in their stead to shield themselves
from prosecution. Therefore, victims are at risk of being prosecuted for these
crimes.*?* A common example is where a victim has been tasked with
recruiting new victims and can herself be accused of trafficking. “*!

e Victims can be reluctant to report being trafficked because, unfortunately, they
themselves have been sexually assaulted by police officers, or have heard from
other victims of cases of such abuse. This was stated by both a law enforcement
administrator and a trafficking survivor who has worked with multiple victims
experiencing this abuse.!* ¢!

e Victims may come to the attention of police officers for incidents that are the
result of being trafficked. "' Law enforcement may respond to a case of domestic
violence or a report of rape, both incidents that may have occurred because the
person is being trafficked. If the victims are unwilling to declare being trafficked,
an officer may cite them for prostitution, for example, an offense that will bar
them from entry into any housing shelter in the future.*®

e Victims can experience the Stockholm syndrome, where they identify with their
captor and see that person as a protector or ,and so will not cooperate with
police.

Interviews revealed that even when a victim of trafficking is identified and presented to
the police, there are barriers to apprehending and prosecuting the trafficker.

e Victims rarely remain in the jurisdiction of local law enforcement. Most victims are
moved frequently by their captors to avoid detection. Law enforcement may
begin an investigation when a victim is cooperating but must close the case when
the victim refuses to cooperate or leaves the area.*® Investigations require law
enforcement time and resources, and these cases may never result in arrest or
prosecution. Even in the event of a completed investigation, the prosecution
process can take years to complete.!"®

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 12 of 28

33



e Victims can initially be cooperative with law enforcement, but they frequently
return to trafficking. This occurs because shelter and other long-term support
services are often not available. Jurors were told that victims who succeed in
escaping trafficking have returned to their captors multiple times before finally
severing ties.

Law enforcement agrees that human trafficking is a problem and does occur in the
County. However, from their point of view, few cases of trafficking come to their
attention. Other crimes are more easily identified, investigated, and prosecuted. ¥ *°]

It is of note that in Grand Jury interviews with law enforcement for this investigation, the
Jury perceived that officers are sincere in their desire to address the human trafficking
problem in our County, but acknowledge that the obstacles outlined here are difficult
barriers to overcome."521153] |_ater in this report, suggestions will be offered to help in
the successful prosecution of more cases.

Santa Cruz County - A Feeder for San Francisco Bay Area Trafficking

Despite its relatively small size, the proximity of the County to the San Francisco Bay
Area serves as a driver for recruitment and a transit point, connecting traffickers and
victims with broader Bay Area networks. As mentioned above, major public events in
the Bay Area are natural incentives for human trafficking.®* °°!

New venues being built and upcoming large events may also result in increased human
trafficking activities.!" Planning for this growth has not been found in local agency
documents.

There is Room for Improvement

In spite of obstacles to preventing, identifying, and prosecuting cases of human
trafficking, there are areas where obstacles can be minimized or even overcome.
Overcoming obstacles includes improving data collection, improving agency
collaboration, enhancing prevention and awareness in school settings, among law
enforcement agencies, and within the wider community, and complying with existing
laws.

Inconsistent Data: Except for County Family & Child Services reporting requirements,
the Jury found no evidence of a countywide effort to collect human trafficking data.
Although the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) gathers data on a broad scale
regarding the number of human trafficking cases and other crimes reported, the data
does not align with statistics reported locally. The FBI data shows zero cases of human
trafficking in Santa Cruz County over a ten year period, *° yet a 2018 Santa Cruz
County Sheriff Operations Training Bulletin reported 37 children, youth, and young
adults were confirmed to have experienced CSEC in the Tri-County Region between
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2016 and 54 children, youth and young adults were

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 13 of 28



suspected to have experienced CSEC. That report also stated that 690 children, youth,
and young adults were identified as at risk of experiencing CSEC in the Tri-County
Region (Santa Cruz, San Benito, and Monterey counties) during the same time
frame.[b71 58159

There are currently four human trafficking cases being prosecuted in Santa Cruz County
Superior Court, all related to a single trafficker.®”

The Jury found that while local law enforcement agents interviewed relied on data from
the Polaris Project, which sponsors the National Human Trafficking Hotline, there is no
collaboration among the agencies responsible for oversight of vulnerable youth to share
information. This includes data gathered by the County Sheriff staff from the Internet
Crimes Against Children (ICAC), a national data-gathering agency. These data yield
significant numbers of potential cases of exploitation monthly.°"11€211¢31%4 Fyrthermore,
the Tri-County collaboration has dwindled due to a lack of regularly scheduled
interaction and informational sharing opportunities. Because human traffickers are very
mobile, it is important that there be regularly scheduled information sharing. ©°/15¢],

Neither law enforcement, nor child welfare staff, nor community nonprofit organizations
share data on this issue with each other on a regularly scheduled basis.

There is a chasm between the figures shared with the Grand Jury from law enforcement
and local nonprofit organizations on incidents of human trafficking cases they have
encountered.

e A District Attorney’s Office representative reported only two cases over the past
four years, neither of which was successfully prosecuted.

e Information from the Watsonville Police Department reported there were no
recent cases of human trafficking. However, a follow-up document stated that
numerous cases were being reported and investigated each year, including
cases of child trafficking.®”

e An administrator from the Santa Cruz Police Department was not able to cite the
number of victims encountered since 2023, but guessed it's a single-digit
number.

e A representative of the Sheriff’'s Office believes that there have only been two
cases “in the last few months”. The representative couldn’t be more certain
because data on crimes is categorized only by the Penal Code.

On the other hand, the number of potential trafficking cases, stated earlier in this report
as provided by local service providers, is much higher.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 14 of 28

35


https://www.icactaskforce.org/

A starting point to address the problem of human trafficking would be to have solid data
on the number of cases collected countywide, as well as other data points on human
trafficking activity in Santa Cruz County.

Lack of Local Communi vernment, Law Enforcement, and Nonprofi llaboration:
The Sheriff's Office and the District Attorney’s Office collaborate with Arukah Project
and Monarch Services in some cases. However, this appears to be the limit of
collaboration in our county.

There is currently no countywide team of stakeholders joining forces that is meeting
regularly to coordinate and facilitate training, prevention activities, support services, or
interdiction efforts.[°® Such a group could collaborate to consolidate statistics and other
data on human trafficking in Santa Cruz County. Quantifying the number of human
trafficking cases, as well as collecting additional data on trafficking, would better enable
the group to procure additional funding to address this problem. The CSEC
multidisciplinary team and the tri-county steering committee’s goals are different.

Multiple sources stated that the formation of law enforcement task forces specifically
focused on human trafficking interdiction efforts would allow law enforcement to more
directly and effectively address local human trafficking activity. Good data collected and
consolidated by a human trafficking coalition could work toward procuring this
funding.!®®

The District Attorney’s Office did apply for grant funding, but was unsuccessful because
it had only two cases that it had attempted to prosecute. If AB 379 is enacted into law,
which appears likely, funding specifically designated for the District Attorney’s Office to
support vertical prosecution of human trafficking cases will become available.

The CSEC Program requires that a tri-county steering committee be established and
hold quarterly meetings. The initial 35-member committee was chaired by the child
welfare directors of the three counties. It included representatives from child welfare,
juvenile probation, law enforcement, and other community partners.’” " Meetings were
disbanded in 2018 once protocols were established and the counties discontinued
pooling CSEC funds for collaborative staff training. The child welfare directors from
Santa Cruz, Monterey, and San Benito Counties continued to meet monthly, then
quarterly, but have not held any meetings since May 2024.

Training for Business, School Staff, and Students: Local nonprofits specializing in
human trafficking prevention, as discussed earlier, are available to provide low or
no-cost training to students and staff, law enforcement, government staff, businesses,
and the general public. Classes are led or supplemented by trafficking survivors. It was
reported to Jurors that classes that include survivors are much more impactful,
especially on students, than those led by non-survivors. Unfortunately, the Jury has also
learned that these services are underutilized./"”

AB 1227 requires trafficking awareness training in grades 7-12. It also requires school
staff and counselor training. Despite mandates, some local school administrators and
agency representatives interviewed were unaware of training resources or have failed to
implement trafficking prevention education.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 15 of 28
36



Multiple County Office of Education staff interviewed could not recall when they last
received any training specifically on this topic, but believe it was likely covered briefly in
their required online training./"®! "l Staff working with high-risk student cases report that
it has been at least five years since they had training that touched on human
trafficking.!*! 7!

The Coalition to End Human Trafficking reports that it provides human trafficking
prevention training by trafficking survivors to students at Juvenile Hall. This training has
been very well received by these high-risk students.

Training of Law Enforcement: The Jury interviewed administrators and investigators in
the District Attorney’s Office, the Sheriff's Office, and Santa Cruz and Watsonville Police
Departments regarding the depth and frequency of human trafficking training. The
record of such training is spotty and, in some cases, can be improved.

e A representative from the District Attorney’s office reports that there is a
mandatory training requirement for human trafficking, but believes that it is not
in-depth enough to enable officers to identify human trafficking victims.

e The Sheriff's Office is mandated by the State to provide sexual assault
investigators with a weeklong training on a human trafficking component.!””!
Documentation from the Sheriff's Office shows that some staff have attended
three different human trafficking related trainings since 2024. It is unknown how
widely these trainings were attended.

e An administrator from the Santa Cruz Police Department believes that human
trafficking training is provided in the Peace Officer Standards and Training in the
police academy, but doesn’t believe that it is included in ongoing training.!"®

e The Watsonville Police Department received two hours of human trafficking
training for detectives in 2019, but has no record of human trafficking training
since that time.l"”

Some local nonprofits discussed earlier in this report are available to provide low or
no-cost training on human trafficking to law enforcement upon request.

Convening of CSEC Meetings: SB 855 requires that recipients of CSEC funds convene
regular multidisciplinary team meetings to review human trafficking cases focused on
minors.

A document received from County Family & Child Services states that the CSEC
multidisciplinary team last met in November 2023.1®! When no new cases were
reported, monthly meetings were cancelled. However, a public records request revealed
that documentation submitted by the County to the State in February 2025 declares that
among the duties that the CSEC Coordinator completes are “monthly or emergency
multidisciplinary meetings”.[t% 8]

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 16 of 28



While these meetings are cancelled because there are no new cases to discuss, in
comparison, the Monterey County multidisciplinary team meets monthly and has a
caseload of 30-40 minors. When there are no new cases to discuss, their team meets
anyway to discuss progress on existing cases.®?

Signage Compliance: In spite of SB 1193 and AB 260, two laws requiring signage
postings in a prominent place, a sample survey of all businesses across cities and
unincorporated areas of Santa Cruz County found that only about 7% of businesses
mandated to post signage are in compliance.

SB 1193 states that enforcement is typically handled by police or the Sheriff’'s Office,
and the County’s District Attorney representative conveyed that, as regards to signage
requirements, their role is prosecution and not enforcement.®! 84

The Jury was told by representatives of law enforcement that they believe human
trafficking signage is important in raising overall public awareness and potentially
providing help to victims of trafficking.

Hotels/ Health ~Alcohol Hair/Nail Massage Metros/

Motels Clinics Retailers Salons Businesses Airports Total

Posted/ = Posted/ Posted/ Posted/ Posted/ Posted/

Surveyed Surveyed Surveyed Surveyed @ Surveyed @ Surveyed | Posted Surveyed
Santa Cruz 0/25 0/3 1/12 0/6 0/5 0/2 1 53
Scotts Valley 1/2 0/2 0/4 1/2 0/3 11 3 14
Watsonville 0/7 0/16 0/3 0/5 0/4 1/2 1 37
Capitola 2/2 1/2 0/2 0/5 0/3 0/0 3 14
Unincorporated*  0/3 0/1 0/13 0/6 1/2 11 2 26
Total 3/39 1/24 1/34 1/24 117 3/6 10 144

Compliance %  7.69% 4.17% 2.94% 417%  5.88% 50.00% 6.94%

* Includes Aptos, San Lorenzo Valley, Live Oak, and Soquel

Figure 3: Compliance with Human Trafficking Signage Requirement
Source: Survey conducted by Santa Cruz County Grand Jury, Spring 2025

Under SB 1193, farm labor contractors are also among those businesses required to
post signs regarding human trafficking. In the case of farm labor contractors, the Santa
Cruz County Agricultural Commission is responsible for enforcing the signage
requirement.

In addition, a survey of farm labor contractor sites showed that where the required
human trafficking signs were posted, they were not necessarily readily accessible to
farm workers. Existing signs in both English and Spanish were faded, in small type, and
generally in very poor condition.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 17 of 28
38



The Jury also surveyed rest stops throughout the County and was unable to find any
human trafficking signs. Rest stops are also required by SB 1193 to post human
trafficking signs.

Human trafficking signs are required to list the telephone number and text message for
the National Hotline. Two Jurors called this number multiple times and experienced a
30-minute wait for a callback. They also tried the text number listed on the sign. They
were put into a continuous phone tree loop. A victim reaching out to a hotline is unlikely
to be available for a callback and may be calling on a public phone. It is important for
callers to get immediate help. Two local nonprofit organizations, Arukah Project and
Monarch Services, each have a 24-hour hotline. Because these organizations are local
and can provide real-time services, they could be added to local signs for a much better
chance of receiving timely assistance. These organizations are equipped to provide
emotional support as well as help locate immediate shelter and other basic needs.

Law Enforcement Compliance with Local Massage Business Ordinances: Local

ordinances, including the County Code Section 5.08 regarding massage businesses,
vary among jurisdictions. Consistency and coordination in enforcing and enhancing
existing ordinances, or an overall County set of ordinances, could facilitate improved
and consistent monitoring of human trafficking laws regarding massage businesses.
One Sheriff’s Office representative admitted that historically, Santa Cruz County has
been more lax than other counties in licensing and inspection of massage businesses.

While most massage businesses are legitimate and do not engage in trafficking, local
service providers are aware that some do. While conducting surveys for signage
compliance, a few massage businesses visited by the Jury appeared to be suspicious.
Regular inspections, enforcement of practitioner certification requirements, and
compliance with signage requirements could result in curtailment of such activity.

Conclusion

Human trafficking does occur in Santa Cruz County, but goes largely unrecognized and
unreported. Lack of data regarding human trafficking activity, lack of collaboration
among stakeholders, insufficient training, and lack of compliance with state and local
laws leave us in the dark as to the prevalence of human trafficking. As a result, the
issue is not being adequately addressed, and the trafficking problem will continue
unabated and possibly increase, unless proactive measures are taken. The Jury is
hopeful that recommendations in this report to address the scourge of human trafficking
in our community will be seriously considered and adopted.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 18 of 28

39



Findings

F1.

F2.

F3.

F4.

F5.

F6.

F7.

F8.

F9.

F10.

F11.

There is currently no consolidated data being collected on Santa Cruz County
human trafficking cases. This causes an understatement of the problem and
makes it difficult for stakeholders to obtain additional funding.

The potential passage of AB 379 may provide grants for the District Attorney’s
Office for the prosecution of traffickers and grants for community-based
organizations for direct services and victim outreach. This could provide the
resources necessary to ultimately reduce human trafficking and reduce the
likelihood of victims returning to trafficking.

The tri-county CSEC steering committee for the prevention of human trafficking
has not met for a full year as of the publication of this report. Therefore, there is
no active body that could potentially monitor trafficking cases across the
tri-county area.

The County Family & Child Services CSEC-required monthly multidisciplinary
team meetings have not been held since November 2023, despite biennial
reporting otherwise to the State Department of Social Services. Therefore, known
cases of human trafficking have not been properly overseen.

Staff and administration of the County Office of Education report they are not
adequately trained and do not receive regular training regarding human
trafficking as required by AB 1227. This is in spite of the fact that free training is
available from local providers that could bring COE into compliance if enforced.
This deficiency can lead to a failure in the staff’s ability to identify cases of
trafficking.

Very few businesses in Santa Cruz County are in compliance with SB 1193
signage requirements. This results in the reduction of community awareness of
the problem and the likelihood that trafficking victims will be able to reach out for
help.

Existing human trafficking signs at farm worker contractor sites are not readily
accessible to farm workers and are in poor condition. This can result in farm
workers being unaware of available resources and an inability to reach out for
help.

The mix of County and local municipal ordinances regarding the licensing and
inspection of massage businesses varies, possibly causing confusion and
inconsistent enforcement of existing regulations.

Annual inspections are required of massage businesses in jurisdictions with
massage business ordinances, but inspections are generally not being
conducted. This can result in undetected human trafficking activity.

Calls to the National Human Trafficking Hotline on existing signs have
unacceptably long wait times and can result in a lost opportunity to assist human
trafficking victims.

Local nonprofit organizations have 24/7 hotline numbers that are staffed, and
calls can be answered immediately or within minutes, greatly increasing the
likelihood of contacting victims and providing assistance in real time.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 19 of 28

40



F12. There has been a lack of human trafficking presentations to law enforcement.

Local law enforcement jurisdictions could request the no-cost training that is
available from local human trafficking service providers. This can lead to officers
learning to identify human trafficking victims and reduce further victim trauma.

F13. Law enforcement task forces focused solely on human trafficking are very

effective methods of detecting and preventing human trafficking activities. Such
task forces could increase the rate of interdiction and the successful prosecution
of human trafficking cases.

Recommendations

R1.

R2.

R3.

R4.

RS.

R6.

The Department of Human Services should designate a qualified staff member to
take the lead in forming a countywide human trafficking coalition, including the
District Attorney and the Sheriff’'s Office. Members should include stakeholders
discussed in this report who are involved in the prevention and interdiction of
human trafficking. The focus should include the consolidation of human trafficking
data and the procurement of additional funds, potentially to fund law enforcement
task forces. This should be completed by December 31, 2025. (F1,F2,F13)

The Program Manager of Family & Child Services should coordinate with
Monterey and San Benito County peers for the purpose of reconvening the
tri-county Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children steering committee. This
team would meet regularly to review and track intercounty human trafficking
cases and activity in our region and participate in regional prevention activities.
This should be completed by December 31, 2025. (F3)

The Program Manager of County Family & Child Services should resume and
maintain monthly multidisciplinary team meetings, required as a condition of
receiving Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children funding, to review ongoing
human trafficking cases and discuss other potential cases involving high-risk
youth. This should commence by August 31, 2025. (F4)

Each law enforcement agency in Santa Cruz County, including the Sheriff’'s
Office, Santa Cruz Police Department, Scotts Valley Police Department, Capitola
Police Department, and Watsonville Police Department, should require law
enforcement officers to receive an annual human trafficking awareness training,
preferably led by human trafficking survivors. This should commence by
December 31, 2025. (F12)

The County Office of Education should come into compliance with AB 1227,
providing human trafficking-related training, led by survivors, to students and staff
as required. This should be completed by February 28, 2026. (F5)

Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors should adopt an umbrella countywide
ordinance requiring human trafficking signage currently mandated by the State to
be part of all existing permitting and licensing procedures for affected
businesses. This should be completed by June 30, 2026. (F6)

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 20 of 28

41



R7.

R8.

R9.

R10.

Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors should require that county-specific
human trafficking awareness and support signs include at least one 24/7 local
hotline number, and staff should collaborate with local non-profits providing
support to human trafficking victims to develop an effective sign for countywide
posting and distribution. This should be completed by June 30, 2026. (F10, F11)

The Santa Cruz County Agricultural Commissioner should come into compliance
with SB 1193 by ensuring that existing human trafficking signs are refreshed
annually. In addition, it should require all farm labor contractors to include the SB
1193 sign in employee handbooks for easy accessibility. A review for compliance
should be done on an annual basis. This should commence by September 30,
2025. (F7)

Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors should adopt a countywide ordinance
regulating the licensing, employee certification, and inspection requirements for
massage businesses consistent with California Massage Therapy Council
certification and licensing requirements. This should be completed by June 30,
2026. (F8)

Local law enforcement agencies, including the Sheriff’'s Office, Santa Cruz

Police Department, Scotts Valley Police Department, Capitola Police Department,
and Watsonville Police Department, should enforce massage business licensing,
certification, and inspection requirements. This should include compliance with
SB 1193 signage requirements. Enforcement of existing ordinances should
commence by September 30, 2025. However, iffwhen the Board of Supervisors
agrees to the Jury’s recommendation to adopt a countywide ordinance, law
enforcement should come into compliance with this new ordinance within 30
days of adoption. (F9)

Required Responses

Respondent Findings Recommendations Respond Within/
Respond By
Santa Cruz County FF17 FF28 F|_§1 0F4|_11F16’ R1, R2, R3, R6, R7, 90 Days /
Board of Supervisors ’ ,F13 ’ ’ R8, R9 September 29, 2025
Santa Cruz County |F1, F2, F6, F9, F12, 60 Days /
Sheriff F13 R1, R4, R6, R10 August 29, 2025
County
: 60 Days /
Superintendent of F5 R5 August 29, 2025
Schools
Santa Cruz County 60 Days /
District Attorney F1,F2,F13 R1 August 29, 2025

Reducing Human Trafficking

published June 30, 2025

Page 21 of 28

42



Invited Responses

Respond Within/

Respondent Findings Recommendations Respond By
Program Manager,
County Family & | F1, F2, F3, F4, F13 R1, R2, R3 60 Days /
: , August 29, 2025
Child Services
Director, Santa Cruz 60 Davs /
County Human | F1, F2, F3, F4, F13 R1, R2, R3 y
) August 29, 2025
Services Department
Santa Cruz County
; 60 Days /
Agrlc_ultt_JraI F7 R8 August 29, 2025
Commissioner
Police Chief, City of 60 Days /
Santa Cruz F6, F9, F12 R4, R6, R10 August 29, 2025
Police Chief, City of 60 Days /
Scotts Valley F6, F9, F12 R4, R6, R10 August 29, 2025
Police Chief, City of 60 Days /
Watsonville F6, F9, F12 R4, R6, R10 August 29, 2025
Police Chief, City of 60 Days /
Capitola F6, F9, F12 R4, R6, R10 August 29, 2025
Director, Arukah 60 Days /
Project F10, F11 R7 August 29, 2025
Chief Executive
Officer, Monarch F10, F11 R7 60 Days /

Services

August 29, 2025

Definitions

e CAMTC: California Massage Therapy Council
e COE: County Office of Education
e CSEC: Commercially Sexually Exploited Children

e NIJ: National Institute of Justice

Reducing Human Trafficking

published June 30, 2025

Page 22 of 28

43



Sources

References

. January 1, 2025. “Which U.S. States Have Had the Most Human Trafficking

Victims Over the Past 5 Years?
Human Trafficking Statistics 2024.” Joclyn Law Firm. Accessed May 22, 2025.
https://www.criminalattorneycolumbus.com/which-u-s-states-have-had-the-most-

human-trafficking-victims-over-the-past-5-years

. April 19, 2025. National Human Trafficking Hotline. Accessed April 19, 2025.

https://humantraffickinghotline.org/en/statistics/california

National Institute of Justice. August 4, 2020. “Gaps in Reporting Human
Trafficking Incidents Result in Significant Undercounting.” NIJ website. Accessed
October 10, 2024.
https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/gaps-reporting-human-trafficking-incidents-result-
significant-undercounting

4. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

January 1, 2025. UC Davis Continuing & Professional Education-Human
Services. Accessed June 8, 2025.

https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec
UC Davis Human Services Continuing Professional Development. January 1,

2025. “CSEC 101.” UC Davis-Human Services. Accessed June 12, 2025.
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec/training-resources

7. Confidential Grand Jury document.

8. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

9. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

10. January 1, 2025. “VICTIMS OF TRAFFICKING AND VIOLENCE PROTECTION
ACT OF 2000.” Department of Justice. Accessed June 13, 2025.
https://www.justice.gov/humantrafficking

11. July 1, 2020. CA Legislature. “CA Penal Code 236.1 & 236.2.” Accessed June
12, 2025.
https://www.childwelfare.gov/resources/definitions-human-trafficking-california/#:
~:text=Citation:%20Penal%20Code%20%C2%A7%20236.1,0r%20received%20b
v%20any%20person.

12. City of Watsonville Ad Hoc Committee Report on Community Policing. April 12,
2021. Report on Community Policing, p. 90. Accessed March 11, 2025.
https://www.watsonville.gov/DocumentCenter/View/16928/ADHOC_REPORT_DI
GITAL

13. Confidential Grand Jury document.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 23 of 28

44


https://www.criminalattorneycolumbus.com/which-u-s-states-have-had-the-most-human-trafficking-victims-over-the-past-5-years
https://www.criminalattorneycolumbus.com/which-u-s-states-have-had-the-most-human-trafficking-victims-over-the-past-5-years
https://humantraffickinghotline.org/en/statistics/california?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/gaps-reporting-human-trafficking-incidents-result-significant-undercounting
https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/gaps-reporting-human-trafficking-incidents-result-significant-undercounting
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec/training-resources
https://www.justice.gov/humantrafficking
https://www.childwelfare.gov/resources/definitions-human-trafficking-california/#:~:text=Citation:%20Penal%20Code%20%C2%A7%20236.1,or%20received%20by%20any%20person.
https://www.childwelfare.gov/resources/definitions-human-trafficking-california/#:~:text=Citation:%20Penal%20Code%20%C2%A7%20236.1,or%20received%20by%20any%20person.
https://www.childwelfare.gov/resources/definitions-human-trafficking-california/#:~:text=Citation:%20Penal%20Code%20%C2%A7%20236.1,or%20received%20by%20any%20person.
https://www.watsonville.gov/DocumentCenter/View/16928/ADHOC_REPORT_DIGITAL
https://www.watsonville.gov/DocumentCenter/View/16928/ADHOC_REPORT_DIGITAL

14. Dept. of Homeland Security. September 20, 2024. HSI Prepares for 2025 Super
Bowl by Hosting a Human Trafficking Awareness Workshop. Accessed May 27,
2025.

h Jlwww.ice, hsi-n
osting-human-trafficking-awareness

15. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

16. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

17. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

18. Confidential Grand Jury interview.

19. January 1, 2020. “UNODC Global Report 2020,” p. page 17 fig. 8. United Nations
Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). Accessed May 5, 2025.
https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/12/report-majority-of-traffi
cking-victims-are-women-and-girls-one-third-children/

20. January 1, 2020. “GLOTIiP_2020_15jan_web.pdf,” p. page 9 figure 1. United
Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). Accessed May 5, 2025.
https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/tip/2021/GLOTiP_2020_15j
an_web.pdf

21. U.S. Department of State. January 20, 2009. “Identify and Assist a Trafficking
Victim.” U.S. Department of State Archived Content. Accessed May 7, 2025.
https://2009-2017 .state.gov/j/tip/id/index.htm

22. Our Rescue.org. January 1, 2025. “Signs and symptoms of human trafficking.”
Our Rescue.org. Accessed May 27, 2025.
https://ourrescue.org/education/prevention-awareness/how-can-i-identify-human-
trafficking

23. California Department of Social Services. January 26, 2015. California
Department of Social Services. Accessed May 8, 2025.
https://www.cwda.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/csec-sb-855-language.pdf
21441823795

24. Ivy Hammond, etal. July 13, 2023. evaluation for Ca. Dept of Social Services.
Evaluating California's Efforts to Address the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of
Children, p. 21. Accessed April 17, 2025.
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-07/Evaluating%20California%E2%
80%99s%20Efforts %20t0%20Address%20the%20Commercial%20Sexual %20Ex
ploitation%200f%20Children.pdf

25. County of Santa Cruz. April 4, 2025. Accessed May 15, 2025.
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1J48g8bgbMkQY3H9jxDc1h7w3p6uZ_4
yl/edit?gid=1152084097#qid=1152084097

26. October 9, 2017. CA legislature. “AB1227.” Accessed June 12, 205.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/bill TextClient.xhtmI?bill_id=201720180AB1
227

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 24 of 28

45


https://www.ice.gov/news/releases/hsi-new-orleans-prepares-2025-super-bowl-hosting-human-trafficking-awareness
https://www.ice.gov/news/releases/hsi-new-orleans-prepares-2025-super-bowl-hosting-human-trafficking-awareness
https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/12/report-majority-of-trafficking-victims-are-women-and-girls-one-third-children/
https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/12/report-majority-of-trafficking-victims-are-women-and-girls-one-third-children/
https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/tip/2021/GLOTiP_2020_15jan_web.pdf
https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/tip/2021/GLOTiP_2020_15jan_web.pdf
https://2009-2017.state.gov/j/tip/id/index.htm?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://ourrescue.org/education/prevention-awareness/how-can-i-identify-human-trafficking
https://ourrescue.org/education/prevention-awareness/how-can-i-identify-human-trafficking
https://www.cwda.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/csec-sb-855-language.pdf?1441823795
https://www.cwda.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/csec-sb-855-language.pdf?1441823795
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-07/Evaluating%20California%E2%80%99s%20Efforts%20to%20Address%20the%20Commercial%20Sexual%20Exploitation%20of%20Children.pdf
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-07/Evaluating%20California%E2%80%99s%20Efforts%20to%20Address%20the%20Commercial%20Sexual%20Exploitation%20of%20Children.pdf
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-07/Evaluating%20California%E2%80%99s%20Efforts%20to%20Address%20the%20Commercial%20Sexual%20Exploitation%20of%20Children.pdf
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1J48g8bgbMkQY3H9jxDc1h7w3p6uZ_4yl/edit?gid=1152084097#gid=1152084097
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1J48g8bgbMkQY3H9jxDc1h7w3p6uZ_4yl/edit?gid=1152084097#gid=1152084097
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1227
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1227

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.
36.

37.

38.

May 8, 2025. CA Legislative portal. Accessed June 12, 2025.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/bilINavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB3
79

April 9, 2025. Dept. of Industrial Relations. “Human Trafficking Notice for FLCs.”
Accessed June 12, 2025.

https://legiscan.com/CA/text/SB1193/id/626694

October 9, 2017. CA Legislature. “AB260.” Accessed June 12, 2025.
https://leginfo.leqgislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill id=201720180AB2
60

October 9, 2017. CA Legislature. “SB225.” Accessed June 12, 2025.

https://leqinfo.leqislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtmI?bill_id=201720180SB2
25

Assemblymember Jordan Cunningham. February 20, 2022. San Luis Obispo
Tribune. Accessed May 27, 2025.

https://www.sanluisobispo.com/news/local/crime/article258585773.html

Assemblyman Jordan Cunningham. September 6, 2022. legiscan. “AB 2130.”
Accessed May 27, 2025.
https://legiscan.com/CA/text/AB2130/id/2597191

February 25, 2022. “Labor Trafficking and the Role of the EMS Provider.”
Collegiate Emergency Medical Services. Accessed May 27, 2025.
https://www.collegeems.com/labor-trafficking-and-the-role-of-the-ems-profession
al/#:~text=1f%20the%20patient%20is%20a,%28Figure %202%29.

Kate Dernocoeur, NREMT. December 20, 2024. EMS1 Newsletter: How EMS
Can Identify, Help Victims of Human Trafficking:by debunking Human Trafficking
Myths, EMS Providers can Assist the Victims They Encounter in Their Own
Communities.. Accessed May 27, 2025.
https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/child-safety-education/articles/how-ems-ca
n-identify-help-victims-of-human-trafficking-zLrBan82ifC3x7T3/

Confidential Grand Jury interview.

California Massage Therapy Council. January 1, 2023. “CAMTC "About Us"
webpage.” CAMTC website. Accessed April 10, 2025.
https://www.camtc.org/information-about-camtc/about-camtc/

City of Watsonville. November 9, 2024. City of Watsonville Code. Accessed
February 28, 2025.
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Watsonville/html/Watsonville05/WatsonvilleO
527.html

City of Santa Cruz. January 1, 2016. “City Code Chapter 5.78.” City of Santa
Cruz. Accessed March 1, 2025.

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruz/html/SantaCruz05/SantaCruz057
8.html#5.78.030

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 25 of 28

46


https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB379
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB379
https://legiscan.com/CA/text/SB1193/id/626694
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB260
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB260
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB225
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB225
https://www.sanluisobispo.com/news/local/crime/article258585773.html
https://legiscan.com/CA/text/AB2130/id/2597191
https://www.collegeems.com/labor-trafficking-and-the-role-of-the-ems-professional/#:~:text=If%20the%20patient%20is%20a,%28Figure%202%29.
https://www.collegeems.com/labor-trafficking-and-the-role-of-the-ems-professional/#:~:text=If%20the%20patient%20is%20a,%28Figure%202%29.
https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/child-safety-education/articles/how-ems-can-identify-help-victims-of-human-trafficking-zLrBan82ifC3x7T3/
https://www.ems1.com/ems-products/child-safety-education/articles/how-ems-can-identify-help-victims-of-human-trafficking-zLrBan82ifC3x7T3/
https://www.camtc.org/information-about-camtc/about-camtc/
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Watsonville/html/Watsonville05/Watsonville0527.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Watsonville/html/Watsonville05/Watsonville0527.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruz/html/SantaCruz05/SantaCruz0578.html#5.78.030
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruz/html/SantaCruz05/SantaCruz0578.html#5.78.030

39.

40.

41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.

57.

58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.

County of Santa Cruz. January 1, 2019. “County Code Chapter 5.08.” County

website. Accessed March 1, 2025.

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruzCounty/html/SantaCruzCounty05/
n ruz n html

City of Scotts Valley. November 7, 2018. “Code Chapter 5.10.” City of Scotts
Valley website. Accessed March 1, 2025.
https://library.municode.com/ca/scotts_valley/codes/code_of ordinances?nodeld
=TITS5BUTALIRE CH5.10MAES 5.10.040EX

Confidential Grand Jury document.

Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.

FBI using Uniform Crime Reporting statistics. January 1, 2025. “FBI Crime
Explorer Tool.” FBI website. Accessed June 8, 2025.
https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/ILATEST/webapp/#/pages/explorer/crime/crime-trend

January 15, 2025. FBI. Accessed June 5, 2025.
https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/LATEST/webapp/#/pages/explorer/crime/crime-trend

Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury document.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 26 of 28

47


https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruzCounty/html/SantaCruzCounty05/SantaCruzCounty0508.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SantaCruzCounty/html/SantaCruzCounty05/SantaCruzCounty0508.html
https://library.municode.com/ca/scotts_valley/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT5BUTALIRE_CH5.10MAES_5.10.040EX
https://library.municode.com/ca/scotts_valley/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT5BUTALIRE_CH5.10MAES_5.10.040EX
https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/LATEST/webapp/#/pages/explorer/crime/crime-trend
https://cde.ucr.cjis.gov/LATEST/webapp/#/pages/explorer/crime/crime-trend

65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.

71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.

84.

85.

Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.

August 4, 2015. “Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisor Resolution and Staff
Report..” Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisor archive. Accessed May 21,
2025.

https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/BDS/Govstream2/Bdsvdata/non_legacy 2.
0/Minutes/2015/20150804-665/PDF/052.pdf#:~:text=Under%20the%20leadershi

P%200f%20the%20child%20welfare,counties%2C %20including%20child%20wel
fare%2C%20juvenile%20court%20judges

Confidential Grand Jury document.

Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury document.
Confidential Grand Jury interview.

January 1, 2025. “Prevention and Public Awareness Resources.” CFPIC.org.
Accessed May 11, 2025.
https://pact.cfpic.org/resources/the-child-welfare-response-to-labor-trafficking-in-c
alifornia/prevention-public-awareness-resources

Office of California Attorney General. January 1, 2023. California Civil Rights.
“CA Civil Code of Procedure 52.6.” Accessed June 12, 2025.
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/civil-code/civ-sect-52-6/#:~:text=(h)%20A%20busine
ss%200r%20establishment.described%20in%20paragraph%20(1).

Confidential Grand Jury document.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 27 of 28

48


https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/BDS/Govstream2/Bdsvdata/non_legacy_2.0/Minutes/2015/20150804-665/PDF/052.pdf#:~:text=Under%20the%20leadership%20of%20the%20child%20welfare,counties%2C%20including%20child%20welfare%2C%20juvenile%20court%20judges
https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/BDS/Govstream2/Bdsvdata/non_legacy_2.0/Minutes/2015/20150804-665/PDF/052.pdf#:~:text=Under%20the%20leadership%20of%20the%20child%20welfare,counties%2C%20including%20child%20welfare%2C%20juvenile%20court%20judges
https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/BDS/Govstream2/Bdsvdata/non_legacy_2.0/Minutes/2015/20150804-665/PDF/052.pdf#:~:text=Under%20the%20leadership%20of%20the%20child%20welfare,counties%2C%20including%20child%20welfare%2C%20juvenile%20court%20judges
https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/BDS/Govstream2/Bdsvdata/non_legacy_2.0/Minutes/2015/20150804-665/PDF/052.pdf#:~:text=Under%20the%20leadership%20of%20the%20child%20welfare,counties%2C%20including%20child%20welfare%2C%20juvenile%20court%20judges
https://pact.cfpic.org/resources/the-child-welfare-response-to-labor-trafficking-in-california/prevention-public-awareness-resources/?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://pact.cfpic.org/resources/the-child-welfare-response-to-labor-trafficking-in-california/prevention-public-awareness-resources/?utm_source=chatgpt.com
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/civil-code/civ-sect-52-6/#:~:text=(h)%20A%20business%20or%20establishment,described%20in%20paragraph%20(1).
https://codes.findlaw.com/ca/civil-code/civ-sect-52-6/#:~:text=(h)%20A%20business%20or%20establishment,described%20in%20paragraph%20(1).

Websites

https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/cesc
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec/training-resources
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/cesc/legislation-and-quidance
https: lari ject.org/r -national-human-trafficking-hotline-stati
[

https://polarisproject.org/myths-facts-and-statistics/

Site Visits

Canvassing of all five County Supervisorial Districts for SB 1193 signage
compliance.

Visited public events that included Farmworker Reality Tours and Rising at the
Rio.

May 15, 2025 Monterey County Human Trafficking Symposium.

Reducing Human Trafficking published June 30, 2025 Page 28 of 28

49


https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/cesc
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/csec/training-resources
https://humanservices.ucdavis.edu/toolkits/cesc/legislation-and-guidance
https://polarisproject.org/resources/us-national-human-trafficking-hotline-statistics/
https://polarisproject.org/resources/us-national-human-trafficking-hotline-statistics/
https://polarisproject.org/myths-facts-and-statistics/

Intake Investigations

o 8 Intake RAIls administered: 1 override e Court reports: 1
e Transfer reports ordered: 1
e Held by Probation/Released by the e Supervisor Rpt. Approvals: 55

Judge @ Detention Hearing: 0
e ATD admissions: 11

e EC Referrals: 1
Aug

e Recidivism Rate: 2% (2 youth)
2025

e EPIC Sessions: 50

e Field Contacts: 72 (49 home, 5
placement, 14 school, 4 treatment
facility)

e Video Contacts: 3

e Secure Youth Treatment Facility: 5

August Caseload Supervision Totals

Probation Only = 96
Including Intake = 170

e # New Supervision Cases w/Low Initial Risk Level: 0

Title IV-E (Does not include Placement IV-E) JAIS

Last Month This Month Last Month This Month
e Reasonable Candidates: 8 ¢ Reasonable Candidates: 8 o 85% of eligible youth e 82% of eligible youth
e New:2 e New:0 received a full assessment, received a full assessment
e Reassessments: 0 e Reassessments: 0 18 youth still needed one. 22 youth still need one.
e Overdue reassessments: 0 e Overdue reassessments: 1 e Overdue reassessments: 21 e Overdue reassessments: 21
e Reassessments due last e Reassessments due this month;: ® Reassessments due last e Reassessments due this

month: 2 1 month: 6 month: 4

Diversions Case Closures by Type

30

25

20

15

10

45%

55%

5 0%
3
0
Jan-25  Feb-25  Mar-25  Apr-25  May-25  Jun-25  Jul-25  Aug-25 Successful Unsuccessful Neutral
Demographics
Probation Caseload Probation Violations Warrants
e African American: 3% (3) e Latinx: 50% (1) e Zero
e Latinx: 70% (67) e White: 50% (1)
o White: 22% (21)
e  Other/Unknown: 5% (5)

50



Population Info Booking Charges (most serious offense)

e |EP's 2 e Drugs/Alcohol: 25% (2)
e 504's:0 e Placement Failure: 12.5% (1)
e Graduations: 0 e Violent/Weapons: 50% (4)
Aug e Enrolled in college class or college studies: 4 * Other:12.5% (1) (hit & run)
e Youth on Psychotropic Meds: 3
¢ Youth with drug/alcohol issues: 4
2025 e Youth open to MH services: 11 Booking Demographics (area of residence)
¢ Medical Referrals: 3 e North County: 25% (2)
e MAT:1 e South County: 62.5% (5)
e Physical Altercations: 0 e  Out-of-County: 12.5% (1)
e Restraints used: 0
e Room confinements: 1
¢ Pending transfer hearing: 3
JUVENILE HALL POPULATION INFORMATION BOYS GIRLS TOTAL
6 am count (average) ' 6.5 0.1 6.6
Population in custody at start of time period 8 0 8
Admitted during time period 4 4 8
Released during time period 7 3 10
Population in custody at end of time period’ 5 1 6
Average daily attendance 6.4 0.2 6.6
Average length of stay 130.6 2.0 92.0
Average length of stay without STYF youth 130.6 2.0 92.0
Length of Stay MODE 1.0 N/A 1.0
Range of stay 1-869 1-3 1-869
Range of age 15-19 14 -17 14 -19
Number of "in-county" residents received 4 3 7
Number of "out-of-county" residents received 0 1 1
Percentage from out-of-county 0.0% 25.0% 12.5%
Total child care days 203 9 212
Total court commitments admitted 0 0 0
Total court commitments released 0 0 0
Total child care days for released court commit 0 0 0
Total intake to date (current year): August 2025 93 36 129
Total intake to date (prior year): August 2024 97 39 136
Overall Population Demographics
ALOS
e Latinx: 12 (75%) e Boys: 12 (75%) e Latinx: 114.3 days % Youth on
e White: 4 (25%) o Girls: 4 (25%) e White: 1.5 days Probation:
31%

51



From: Cynthia Druley

To: Gerardo Leon Garcia
Subject: Fwd: An important leadership opportunitty
Date: Thursday, September 11, 2025 6:14:24 PM

*#x*CAUTION:This is an EXTERNAL email. Exercise caution. DO NOT
open attachments or click links from unknown senders or unexpected
email. *#**

—————————— Forwarded message ---------

From: Lynne Petrovic <lynne@casaofsantacruz.org>
Date: Thu, Sep 11, 2025, 11:27 AM

Subject: An important leadership opportunitty

To: cynthiadr@gmail.com <cynthiadr@gmail.com>, Reyna Ruiz
<reyna(@casaofsantacruz.org>

Hello both,
Just highlighting this opportunity to the commission’s attention:

PS hope you are well Cynthia! See you next weekend!

The Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) is looking for
individuals interested in serving on the Executive Steering Committee
(ESC) to develop a new Request for Proposals (RFP) to provide local

assistance grants funded by Proposition 64 Cohort 4 Grant Program

The Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) is looking for individuals interested
in serving on the Executive Steering Committee (ESC) to develop a new Request for
Proposals (RFP) to provide local assistance grants funded by Proposition 64 Cohort 4 Grant
Program (Control, Regulate, and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act).
https://www.bscc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/P64-ESC-MembershipCohort4-Web-
Dated.pdf

This funding will provide grant funds to local governments to assist with enforcement
activities and/or other local projects addressing public health and safety associated with the
legalization of adult recreational use cannabis in California. If you are interested in learning
more about this ESC and the BSCC grant making process, please visit the BSCC website
https://www.bscc.ca.gov/s_bsccexecutivesteeringcommittees/ or reach out directly to

Helene Zentner (contact information below). Thank you.
Lynne Petrovic, MSW (she/her)

Executive Director

52


mailto:cynthiadr@gmail.com
mailto:Gerardo.LeonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:lynne@casaofsantacruz.org
mailto:cynthiadr@gmail.com
mailto:cynthiadr@gmail.com
mailto:reyna@casaofsantacruz.org
https://www.bscc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/P64-ESC-MembershipCohort4-Web-Dated.pdf
https://www.bscc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/P64-ESC-MembershipCohort4-Web-Dated.pdf
https://www.bscc.ca.gov/s_bsccexecutivesteeringcommittees/

t o
X
CASA

Court Appointed Special Advocates
FOR CHILDREN

OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY

PHONE: (831) 761-2956 Ext 101
FAX: (831) 761-2913

813 Freedom Blvd.
Watsonville, CA 95076

www.casaofsantacruz.org

Show up - change a life

This message including any attachment is for the sole use of the recipient and may
contain confidential information. If you have received this message in error, please notify

the sender and destroy all copies of the original message.

Follow Us

53


tel:831.761.2956%20Ext%20102
tel:(831)%20761-2913
https://www.google.com/maps/search/813+Freedom+Blvd.+%0D%0AWatsonville,+CA+95076?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/813+Freedom+Blvd.+%0D%0AWatsonville,+CA+95076?entry=gmail&source=g
http://www.casaofsantacruz.org/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GNctkORIS3k

From: Julia Feldman

To: Gerardo Leon Garcia

Cc: egonzales; Reyna Ruiz

Subject: Re: info re JJDPC question

Date: Monday, September 15, 2025 12:24:45 PM

*#x*CAUTION:This is an EXTERNAL email. Exercise caution. DO NOT
open attachments or click links from unknown senders or unexpected
email. ****

I just received a call back from Susana Silva. She said she wanted to add that one criteria used
by the Courts and the County is that the JJDPC commissioners represent CBOs. I thanked her
for calling back.

On Mon, Sep 15, 2025 at 11:23 AM Gerardo Leon Garcia
<Gerardo.l eonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov> wrote:

Hello,

Thank you, I can include this email in the Minutes Packet.

Gerardo

From: Julia Feldman <julia@crcsantacruz.org>
Sent: Monday, September 15, 2025 11:12 AM
To: Gerardo Leon Garcia <Gerardo.LeonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov>

Cc: egonzales <egonzales@milpacollective.org>; Reyna Ruiz <reyna@casaofsantacruz.org>
Subject: info re JJDPC question

*#x*CAUTION:This is an EXTERNAL email. Exercise caution. DO NOT open
attachments or click links from unknown senders or unexpected email. ****

Hello Gerardo, I was tasked with reaching out to the Personnel Department after our last
JIDPC commission meeting to inquire about what criteria was used to select the two
commissioners to join the Chief PO hiring panel. I called last Friday and again this morning
and followed up with an email. I received a call back a little bit ago. I think the proper way
for me to get this info to the commission is to ask you to send it, correct? I summarized our
conversation below. Basically, it sounds like no criteria was developed or utilized to make

54


mailto:julia@crcsantacruz.org
mailto:Gerardo.LeonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=user2b71a98e
mailto:/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=a1e54a4143de4fec90d90a197b7f830d-8b9986a5-eb
mailto:Gerardo.LeonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:julia@crcsantacruz.org
mailto:Gerardo.LeonGarcia@santacruzcountyca.gov
mailto:egonzales@milpacollective.org
mailto:reyna@casaofsantacruz.org

the decisions or, if it was, the person I spoke with is unaware of its existence.

9/15/25. 10:45am. Question follow-up re how JJIDPC commissioners were selected to be
part of the hiring panel for Chief Probation Officer.

Phone conversation with Susana Silva with Human Resources, County Personnel.

Susana said the County and Courts developed an MOU regarding how to staff the two hiring
panels for Chief Probation Officer. There will be two panels: 1 is considered technical and 1
is considered community. JJDPC commissioners were selected for the community panel.
Susana said the County identified one commissioner and the Courts identified the other and
each side agreed with the other’s recommendation and therefore both JJDPC commissioners
were chosen.

What criteria were used or how the decisions were made to select the two JJDPC
commissioners is unknown to Susana. She suggested if further information is requested that
we reach out to her supervisor, Division Manager Erin Morimoto (sp?).

Julia Feldman

Executive Director
Conflict Resolution Center
of Santa Cruz County (CRC)

614 Ocean Street
Santa Cruz, CA 95060
Office: 831-475-6117 x406

Cell: 831-621-7410
Website | Facebook | Instagram | LinkedIn

The Conflict Resolution Center is located on the occupied/unceded territory of the
Awaswas-speaking Uypi Tribe. The Amah Mutsun Tribal Band, comprised of the
descendants of indigenous people taken to missions Santa Cruz and San Juan Bautista
during the Spanish colonization of the Central Coast, is today working hard to restore
traditional stewardship practices on these lands and heal from historical trauma. We
recognize that we benefit from living and working in their traditional homeland, and we
affirm their sovereign rights as first peoples.

55


https://www.crcsantacruz.org/
https://www.facebook.com/ConflictResolutionCenterofSantaCruzCounty/
https://www.instagram.com/santacruzcrc/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/conflict-resolution-center-of-santa-cruz-county

County of Santa Cruz

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION
COMMISSION
AGENDA

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL (Roll Call done by Staff) Time: 6:01 pm

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA (Action Item)
Is there a Motion to approve or amend? Deutron
Is there a Second? Bev
All in favor? All
All opposed? None
Abstained? None

Motion to accept 7/10 agenda as amended?
Cynthia first, David second.
Bev and Sierra Abstain.

Accept and file the statistic w request to add to agenda for next meeting.
First Cynthia, Bernie 2.

In Favor? Unanimous

Oppose: None

Abstentions: None

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: Darius (OYCR) and Roman Frutos (youth, JJDPC applicant)

ANNOUNCEMENTS (For Commissioners)

e Roman has applied for JUDPC but has not heard (Commissioner).

e County is launching a strategic plan for next 6 years. Reach out to BOS rep. the link is
on the website. There is a community engagement plan and focus groups in this
process.

e BSCC is looking for committee member to review the new RFP’s from Prop 64.

ACTION ITEMS
1. Discussion: Move to set timeframe and Commission membership of Jail Secure
Youth Treatment Facility (SYTF) inspection team.
Is there a Motion? Cynthia
Is there a Second? Deutron
All'in favor? unanimous
All opposed? none
Abstained? none




Discussion: Cynthia spoke that we learned that a youth is serving SYTF in county jail. We have
an obligation to inspect jail. Look at tools for inspection. Bev has spoken to folks and looking at
programs (deputy chief). At main jail, there is a clearance process, do people need clearance.
Bev, Reyna and Deutron and maybe Cynthia outside the scene (planning as needed). This
would be separate from the other report. Jose and Jimmy are the lead in SYTF outside of JH.
Moved to create an ad hoc to work on this project. Come back next month with more details and
be done within 6 months.

2.

Meeting times and locations.
Bev (first) and Cynthia (second).

Discussion: Alternating location. Is there a possibility for Hybrid meeting per
Brown Act? Will this help with engagement. Twice that a commissioner can attend
and we need them for physical quorum. For online for members of the public. And,
everything would need to go by roll call. Medical emergency or just cause. Public
must be able to participate (2-way audio visual- Teams) with technical allowances.
Would we have the technology and ability to do this? North county PSC and South
County PSC now available.

Is everyone in favor of eliminating Aptos?
-Abstain, Sierra.
-Everyone else yes.

For South County site, approve Milpa and PSC (Watsonville if needed) as a
backup.
-All said yes.

Hybrid issues? Permanent item on the agenda that permits folks from participating
remotely with all the rules. We publish the agenda and link that works for public and
guests, and for whatever emergency Commissioners. A recurring link, standing one.
Functionality wise, Teams would need to be available set up Probation.

Is there a Motion?

Is there a Second?
All in favor? unanious
All opposed?none
Abstained? none

INFORMATION ITEMS

1. Discuss recent adult transfers from JH:

2" youth transferred to adult court by Judge Vinluan and Judge Guy. In Santa Cruz 2 and

5 statewide in 2024. This is a trend that is being monitored by state JUDPC. Pendulum
seems to be more youth transferred to adult court. Darius at OYCR has been providing more
info. San Mateo County has issued a resolution not transferring youth to adult. Can share
the resolution. Prior to Prop 57, in 2015, this commission issued a 32-page report and had
partners speak to the issue and there was a forum to talk about why we should not do direct
files. At the same time, the state was doing reform. Brain science, rehabilitation, etc. Is a
work around SB823, that youth will get out at age 25 without a trial? Trials are expensive;

57



redetermination? What is being built in the community? The concept of the LRP. Better jails,

better JH, more SYTF and Ranch Camp- investing in incarceration. Theoretically, lack of

appropriate services.

2. Report out and discuss JH inspection and upcoming report: Thank you to everyone
for the high engagement, participation and support. Team leaders met this week, 2/3 of
way with report draft. To probation by 9/19/25 for review and clarifications. Back to this
commission in October packet (prior to the JUDPC meeting). Cynthia’s leadership is
commendable. It felt smooth and efficient. Sierra’s leadership and experience are to be
commended.

3. JJDPC'’s participation in the Hiring of the new Chief of Probation: Deutron and
David, one for the Board and one for the Courts. Human Resources would be contacted
for questions about JUIDPC commissioners and/or leaders in the community. Best
practice would have been to have representation and coordination with the Chair of the
Commission. October 17, 2025 is the next process. We want a voice, and now we have
2 voices. Add this for next agenda to provide input for the representatives. Leann
Monarch services, CAB, etc.

4. New Commissioner appointments-hold ups at Board of Supervisors: Not because
everyone applies does it mean recommended. Inbox, sup reviews (days, weeks or
months) and doing a lot; sometimes there are delays. Recommendation from District 1
(Manu) meeting (Stephanie from June) will be forward to Eli and Judge V. Oath before
October meeting. At large appointment, who reviews it, is it by residence? If we know
which Sup they have applied, so that we can expedite the process. For youth
commissioners (youth at large)? Where do they go for review? Where do at large
commissions get reviewed. We are trying to recruit young people it goes into the ether.
Who is the point of contact so they can go through the process. There was a big push
that the committees reflect the community- a community that looks like us. Cynthia:
Open all commissions to youth...taking 3-4 months is too long. 1) are there technical
problems with the syste or is it 2) Bureaucracy? Deutron offers to support youth to
complete the application again. Standing youth commission or dispersing the youth to
different commissions.

5. Grand Jury Sex Trafficking Report: A few meeting Becky Steinberger said it was under
our prevue. Is this part of our mandate as the JIDPC. Add this for next agenda to
review, especially under prevention.

6. There is no prevention item to the agenda as a standing item. Add PREVENTION as a
standing agenda item.

SUB-COMMITTEES UPDATE
1. SB823
2. Data

ADJOURNMENT Time: 7:30 pm.




	September 11 2025 JJDPC Regular Meeting DRAFT minutes.pdf
	September 11 2025 JJDPC Regular Meeting Agenda Packet.pdf
	September 11 2025 JJDPC Regular Meeting Agenda.pdf

	August 14 2025 JJDPC Special Meeting Approved Minutes.pdf
	July 10 2025 JJDPC Approved Corrected Meeting Minutes.pdf
	September 11 2025 JJDPC Regular Meeting Agenda Packet
	There were no firearm related bookings in August.pdf
	JH Stats.pdf
	2025-5_Human_Trafficking_Report.pdf
	Human Trafficking in Santa Cruz County 
	Summary 
	Background 
	Scope and Methodology 
	Investigation 
	What is Human Trafficking? 
	The Scope and Nature of the Problem 
	Vulnerable Populations in Santa Cruz County 
	 




	September 11 2025 JJDPC Regular Meeting Agenda Packet
	2025-5_Human_Trafficking_Report.pdf
	Investigation 
	Indicators of Trafficking Activity 
	What Resources are Available to Human Trafficking Victims? 
	State Laws Regarding Prevention and Support Services to Minors 
	SB 855 - Human Services Omnibus Trailer Bill for the 2014-15 Budget 
	AB 1227 - Human Trafficking Prevention Education and Training Act (2017) 

	State Laws and Local Ordinances Regarding Human Trafficking 
	Pending Legislation 
	Existing State Legislation 
	Local Ordinances 

	Why Are So Few Human Trafficking Cases Prosecuted? 
	Santa Cruz County - A Feeder for San Francisco Bay Area Trafficking 

	There is Room for Improvement 

	Conclusion 
	 
	Findings 
	Recommendations 
	 
	Required Responses 
	Invited Responses 
	Definitions 
	 

	Sources 
	References 
	 
	Websites 
	Site Visits 



	August Juvenile Probation Division at a Glance.pdf
	August Juvenile Hall Division at a Glance.pdf
	Fwd_ An important leadership opportunitty.pdf
	Re_ info re JJDPC question.pdf
	09112025 JJDPC Meeting Notes - Secretary Ruiz.pdf



